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SOURB NSHAN SOURB NIKOGHAYOSI (HOLY SIGN
OF ST. NICHOLAS) CHURCH

Location. The monument which forms an integral part of the

panorama of Tbilisi (called Tpghis in ancient times) stands in the

heart of the city, in the centre of one of its oldest quarters called

Kalo (Kaloubani in Georgian) or simply Sourb Nshan, in the area

between former Serebryannaya (Goldsmiths’) and Sourb Nshan

(later renamed after H. Hakobian, at present Sultnishany) Streets,

at an altitude of 415 metres above sea level. Geographical coordi-

nates: N 41o41°39.62,°° E 44o48°17.37.°°

According to the administrative-territorial division of the city

as of 1831, the church of the Holy Sign of St. Nicholas the

Miracle-Worker was situated in the first quarter of its first part.1

A Historical Introduction. The exact time of the foundation

of the monument remains unknown.2 According to a viewpoint

largely circulated by the scholars engaged in the study of this

issue, it was erected between 1703 and 17203 (this hypothesis is

based on the well-known construction inscription carved on the

tympanum of its northern entrance), with its dome being added to

it in 1780.

However, in 1837 Georgian researcher P. Ioseliany advanced

another thesis according to which, in 1703 the Armenians found-

ed the church in the site of a Georgian Orthodox one.4 Later a

great number of scholars blindly repeated this absolutely ground-

less and unsubstantiated allegation, concocted by Ioseliany; more-

over, some of them simply re-formulated it considering it a piece

of information handed down “traditionally.” Thus, G. Aghaniants

states: “As is traditionally said, the site of Sourb Nshan Church

used to be occupied by a Georgian sanctuary dedicated to St.

Nicholas the Miracle-Worker. Later the Armenians took posses-

sion of it and erected a church of the same name there.”5

This viewpoint, which is highly pleasing and advantageous for

the Georgian Orthodox Church, has been even reflected in official

publications: “Like so many other Armenian churches situated in

Georgia, this one, which is dedicated to St. Nicholas the Miracle-

Worker, was once in the possession of the Orthodox Church.”6

Another researcher to allege—again on the basis of this “tra-

ditionally”-repeated hypothesis—that the present-day Armenian

church stands in the site of an originally Georgian one is T.

The site of Sourb Nshan (Holy Sign) Church on the plan of the old city ¥St. Petersburg,

1887¤

__________

1 ìñ³ëï³ÝÇ ³½·³ÛÇÝ ¹Çí³Ý ¥henceforward: ì²¸¤, ý. 209, ó. 1, ·. 394, Ã.

2: There also exist other records on the location of the church. Thus, in the

1840s, M. Brosset wrote: “Going along Serebryannaya Street, you find yourself

in front of a Georgian seminary: on the left, towards the centre, the beautiful

Armenian church of Sourb Nshan is seen standing in a yard surrounded with

houses” (Brosset M., Rapports (V) sur un voyage archéologique dans la

Géorgie et dans l’Arménie executé (en 1847-1848), livre 2, St-Pb., 1850, p. 18).

Michael Sulian, who was from Tpghis by birth, states the following in his

Armenian-language memoirs entitled Tiflis City during My Childhood: “When

you pass from the Armenian Street to Saldatski Bazar, the Goldsmiths’ Street

begins, with the church of Sourb Nshan built there” ¥Ð²¸, ý. 428, ó. 2, ·. 104,

Ã. 19¤. T. Kvirkvelia, who is one of the best experts on the history of the city,

says: “Sourb Nshan—a church in H. Hakobian Street which overlooks the cas-

tle” ¥kkvviirrkkvveelliiaa  TT.., Tbilisis admSeneblobis fragmentebi

saxelwodebebSi, “sabWoTa qelovneba” , 1984, ¹ 4, gv. 123¤.

2 In fact, so far this issue has not been studied properly.

3 There also exists a hypothesis according to which, the church was founded in

1701: it is based on M. Brosset’s decipherment of the inscription, which con-

tains a lot of errors.

4 Èîññåëèàíè Ï., Îïèñàíèå äðåâíîñòåé ãîðîäà Òèôëèñà, 1866, ñ. 258

¥the original reads: “Ñóðá-Íèøàí, áûâøàÿ â ðóêàõ ïðàâîñëàâíûõ, âî

èìÿ Ñâ. Íèêîëàÿ ×óäîòâîðöà”¤. In another record P. Ioseliany states the fol-

lowing: “The time of the foundation of Sourb Khach (Sourb Nshan) Church

remains obscure. Since time bygone, part of Andrew the Apostle’s skull has been

kept here” ¥the original reads: “Öåðêîâü Ñ. Êðåñòà (Ñóðá-Íèøàí). Âðåìÿ

îñíîâàíèÿ åå íåèçâåñòíî. Çäåñü ñîõðàíÿåòñÿ èçäðåâëå ÷àñòü ÷åðåïà

Àïîñòîëà Àíäðåÿ”, idem, Äðåâíèå ïàìÿòíèêè Òèôëèñà, “Æóðíàë

Ìèíèñòåðñòâà âíóòðåííèõ äåë. 1844. ×àñòü ïÿòàÿ”, ÑÏá, ñ. 120.

__________

5 Ð³Û³ëï³ÝÇ ³½·³ÛÇÝ ¹Çí³Ý ¥henceforward: Ð²¸¤, ý. 332, ó. 1, ·. 102, Ã. 8:

6 Ïðîöåíêî Þ., Àðõåîëîãè÷åñêèé ïóòåâîäèòåëü ïî Òèôëèñó, Òèô-

ëèñ, 1881, ñ. 59-60 ¥the original reads:“Ñóðá-Íèøàíñêàÿ íà Ñóðï-

íèøàíñêîé óëèöå, èìåíîâàâøàÿñÿ â ðóêàõ ïðàâîñëàâíûõ âî èìÿ

ñâ. Íèêîëàÿ ×óäîòâîðöà”). Also see “Êàâêàçñêèé êàëåíäàðü íà

1886 ã.”, Òèôëèñ, 1885, ñ. 152 ¥the original reads: “Öåðê. ýòà, êàê è

ìíîãèÿ àðì., â Ãðóçèè áûëà íåêîãäà â ðóêàõ ïðàâîñëàâíàãî,

ïîñâÿùåííàÿ Íèêîëàþ ×óäîòâîðöó”¤.
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Kvirkvelia: “It was built in 1701. This site is said to have been

occupied by an Orthodox church which was later destroyed and

subsequently restored by Armenian Gregorians. Its name means

Holy Cross.”7

Clinging to the same concoction, another scholar of the recent

period “substantiates” the Georgian origin of the initial building

of the church with the name of St. Nicholas (Nikoghayos): “An

ancient Georgian legend comes to suggest—and not without

grounds—that St. Nicholas’ name has been preserved in a church

that was primarily Georgian but later changed into an Armenian

one under the name of Sourb Nshan.”8

As is apparent from the aforementioned, none of the available

sources contains at least the slightest hint that the church which

stood in the present-day site of Sourb Nshan before 1703

belonged to Georgians. In fact, the specialists engaged in the

study of this issue simply did not have at their disposal any writ-

ten records attesting to the existence of the primary building of the

church. The only exception is the colophon of a prayer-book of

1624 mentioned by Dr. P. Muradian (Professor): although it con-

tains information of the utmost importance, he did not dissemi-

nate it in the scientific circles, perhaps, due to the fact that it is the

only source proving the existence of an older church in the site of

the present-day one (it is noteworthy that it also clearly states that

the sanctuary belonged to Armenians), and he had doubts about its

trustworthiness.9

Kaloubani Quarter ¥Quarter of Kalo¤, with Sourb Nshan (Holy Sign) Church in its cen-

tre, as seen from space ¥Google Earth, 2010¤

__________

7 kkvviirrkkvveelliiaa  TT.., ibid. Also see Êâèðêâåëèÿ Ò., Ñòàðîòáèëèññêèå

íàçâàíèÿ, “Âå÷åðíèé Òáèëèñè”, 6.11.1991 ¥the original reads: “Ïî

ïðåäàíèþ, íà ýòîì ìåñòå â ñòàðèíó ñòîÿëà ïðàâîñëàâíàÿ öåðêîâü.

Ïîñëå òîãî, êàê îíà áûëà ðàçîðåíà è ðàçðóøåíà, íîâàÿ âîçâåäåíà

àðìÿíñêîé îáùèíîé”¤.

8 Àðâåëàäçå Á., “Àðìÿíñêèå” èëè ãðóçèíñêèå öåðêâè â Ãðóçèè ?!,

Òáèëèñè, 1996, ñ. 14-15 ¥the original reads: “Íóæíî äóìàòü, è íåáåç-

îñíîâàòåëüíî, ÷òî, ïî äðåâíåé ãðóçèíñêîé òðàäèöèè, èìÿ

ñâÿòîãî Íèêîëîçà ñîõðàíèëîñü â íàçâàíèè èñêîííî ãðóçèíñêîé,

íî îáðàùåííîé â àðìÿíñêóþ öåðêâè – Ñóðá-Íèøàí...”¤. Probably,

the author of these lines was guided by the groundless viewpoint that “...the

worship of that saint was not accepted in Armenia” ¥ààõõÉÉááõõμμ³³μμÛÛ³³ÝÝ  ´́..,,  ÐÐ³³ëë--

ññ³³ÃÃÛÛ³³ÝÝ  ØØ.., ¸³¹Çí³Ýù, §Ð³ÛÏ³½Û³Ý Ð³Û³·Çï³Ï³Ý Ð³Ý¹¿ë¦, Ñ. À,

ä¿ÛñáõÃ, 1980, ¿ç 37-38¤. In fact, however, the cult of St. Nikoghayos, as his

name sounds in Armenian, was quite wide-spread in Armenia as well and there

are many churches in different districts of the country dedicated to him (the

churches of Kamarakap and Narver Villages in Akn District; the monastery

located close to Btarij Village in Yerznka District, and another church in Zimara

Village, Tivrik District. St. Nicholas’ representation is also found in one of the

frescoes decorating Dadivank situated in Tzar District, Republic of Artsakh

(NKR).

9 Ìóðàäÿí Ï., Àðìÿíñêàÿ ýïèãðàôèêà Ãðóçèè. Òáèëèñè, Åðåâàí,

1988, ñ. 73.
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We find it expedient to point out that P. Ioseliany’s statement

about an older church in the site of the present-day one is quite

correct, but it should be stressed that the older monument was not

a Georgian, but an Armenian one, and this is attested by the avail-

able sources. It is especially noteworthy that during the construc-

tion of today’s church, the name of the older one, Sourb Nshan

Sourb Nikoghayosi (Holy Sign of St. Nicholas), was not changed,

but simply passed to the newly-erected one.

Below follow the existing written records and lapidary

inscriptions (most of these last ones are put into scientific circula-

tion for the first time) dating back to a period preceding the year

1703 and indisputably proving that at least from the beginning of

the 17th century onwards, an Armenian church of the same name

existed in the place of the present-day church of St. Nicholas.

The earliest of these records is the aforementioned colophon,

which says: “Written in the year 1073 (1624). I, Andri of Cesarea,

priest of the church of St. Nicholas in the city of Tpkhis, gave this

manuscript...”10

As is clear from the colophon, in 1624 Priest Andri, who was

from Cesarea by birth, passed the manuscript to St. Nicholas

Church of Tpghis (it may be interpreted as an act of donation),

which shows that at that time one of the Armenian churches of the

city was dedicated to this saint.11

The next record is a Thesaurus completed in St. Gevorg

Church of Mughni, Tpghis, in 1656 by scribe Aghamal

Jughayetsy and donated to Sourb Nshan in the same year: in its

colophon we find the earliest reference to the church under this

name: “And I, heavy sinner Zurab, received this holy book and

gave it to Priest Ohan, as a gift to Sourb Nshan. May you remem-

ber...”12

Equally important are the fragments of the construction

inscription (1662) of the old church and those of an inscribed

cross-stone created in the same year, which were removed to the

southern sacristy of the newly-built one (probably, for their fur-

ther preservation). These newly-found inscriptions, which are put

into scientific circulation for the first time,13 reveal that the mon-

ument underwent renovation in 1662, also mentioning the name

__________

10 Ð³Û»ñ»Ý Ó»é³·ñ»ñÇ Ä¾ ¹³ñÇ ÑÇß³ï³Ï³ñ³ÝÝ»ñ, Ñ. ´, ºñ¨³Ý, 1978, ¿ç

155 (the original reads: §¶ñ»ó³õ Ç ÃáõÇÝ èÐ¶ ¥1624¤, »ïáõ ·Çñë ½³Ûë »ë`

²Ý¹ñÇ Î»ë³ñ³óÇ ù³Ñ³Ý³Û »Ï»Õ»óáÛÝ ê. ÜÇÏáÕ³ÛáëÇ, Ç ù³Õ³ùÝ

î÷ËÇë...¦):

11 We think that the colophon clearly shows the location of the church, but we find

it expedient to add that there was no church dedicated to St. Nicholas in Cesarea

(the churches of the city were St. Grigor, St. Sargis, Sourb Astvatzatzin (Holy

Virgin) and St. Hakob of the Lower Quarter. In its neighbourhood, the

monastery of Sourb Karapet (Holy Forerunner) was located). See ¾¾ëëÏÏÇÇõõÉÉ³³åå,,

Î»ë³ñÇáÛ Ñ³ÛáõÃÇõÝÁ, §²ñ»õ¦, 1923, Â ï³ñÇ, ¹ 231, 13 ë»åï»Ùμ»ñ, ¿ç

1, ²²ññ··¿¿ááëëÇÇ  ÙÙ»»ÕÕááõõ, ÂÕÃ³ÏóáõÃÇõÝÝ»ñ, §ÎáÑ³Ï¦, 1913, ¹ 5, ¿ç 56¤.

12 Ð³Û»ñ»Ý Ó»é³·ñ»ñÇ Ä¾ ¹³ñÇ ÑÇß³ï³Ï³ñ³ÝÝ»ñ, Ñ. ¶ ¥henceforward:

Ä¾¶¤, ºñ¨³Ý, 1984, ¿ç 721 (the original reads: §²ñ¹` »ë μ³½Ù³Ù»Õ

¼áõñ³μë ëï³ó³Û ½ëμ. ï³éë ¨ »ïáõ ÛÇß³ï³Ï Ç ¹áõéÝ ê. Üß³ÝÇÝ, Ç Ó»éÝ

ï¿ñ àÑ³Ý ù³Ñ³Ý³ÛÇÝ, ÛÇß»ó¿ù...¦):

__________

13 For the first time, we saw these inscriptions in the photographs handed to us by

N. Akopov in 2011. In April 2012, we studied them on the spot.



4

of the architect who carried out the work, Navasard: most presum-

ably, he is the person who built the church of Sourb Kiraki (Holy
Sunday) in Bolnis-Khachen Village, Bolnis District, Georgia, in

1655, and the main church of Bni Dzori Metz Vank (Great
Monastery of Bnidzor) located near Sheghver (Metz Shulaver),

Marneul District, Georgia, in 1663.14

The four-line construction inscription, which is engraved on two

blocks of stone (dimensions: 38.3 x 12.3 & 69.3 x 37 cm), reads:

Æ Ãí¥ÇÝ¤ èÖÄ² ¥1662¤ || ...Ñ¥³ñ¤ëÁÝ, ¶³ëå³ñ. Çñ³Ý
³¥Ý»ñ¤Ñ¥³Ûñ¤ ´¿ñ|áÝ, ù³ñ³ÛÑ³ï Ü³õ³Ûë³|ñÃÝ, áñ ¿ Ú³-
éÇ×¥óÇ¤15, ßÇÝ¥»ó³õ¤ Ó»é³Ùμ ë¥á¤ó¥³¤:

Transl.: In the year 1111 (1662), ...daughter-in-law, Gaspar, his
father-in-law Bero, stonemason [architect] Navaysart, who is
from Harij. [This church] was built by them.

Published for the first time.

The cross-stone is broken into at least four parts which are

engraved with the following inscription:

[êáõñμ Ë³ãë Ëûç³ ´³]ñË¥áõ¤ï³ñÇÝ »õ Çñ ³Ùá¥õ¤ëÇÝ
¸³ñ³Ûç³ÝÇÝ: ê¥áõñ¤μ Ë¥³¤ãë μ³¥ñ»¤Ë¥³õë¤, Ãí¥ÇÝ¤ èÖÄ²
¥1662¤:

Transl.: May this Holy Cross protect khoja Barkhutar and his
spouse Darayjan. May the Holy Cross protect, in the year 1111
(1662).

Published for the first time.

In 1673 prominent French traveller Jean Chardin mentioned

Sourb Nshan amidst the 8 Armenian churches of Tiflis.16

All these sources of the 17th century come to prove that before

the construction of the present-day standing church, at least over

a century ago, there already existed an Armenian church of the

same name in its site: for the last time, it was thoroughly rebuilt

in 1662 by outstanding stonemason and architect Navasard.

As for the multi-stage reconstruction of the church, and the

additions made to it in the 18th century, there are a vast number

of records providing ample information regarding it.

With this respect, indeed, first and foremost mention should be

made of the construction inscription of 13 lines carved on two

adjoining stones which are still preserved on the northern entrance

tympanum of the church (it commemorates the foundation of the

monument in 1703 and its construction within 17 years):

Ú¥Çëáõ¤ë ø¥ñÇëïá¤ë | ßÝ¥á¤ñÑûù ë¥áõñ¤μ Ñá·¥á¤ÛÝ »Õ¨ ÑÇÙ|-
Ý³ñÏ¥áõ¤ÙÝ ¨ ßÇÝ¥áõ¤ÙÝ ë¥áõñ¤μ Üß³ÝÇ | »Ï»Õ¥»¤óáÛë Ãí¥Ç¤Ý
èÖÌ´ ¥1703¤, Ç Ã¥³¤·|³õáñáõÃ»¥³Ý¤ È¿í³Ý Ë¥³¤ÝÇÝ ¨ Çõñ
áñ¹á|óÝ, Ç Ñ¥³¤Ûñ¥³¤å»ïá¥õ¤Ã»¥³Ý¤ ï¥»³¤éÝ Ü¥³¤Ñ¥³¤å»-
ïÇÝ. | »ë Ù¿ÉÇù ÎÇûñÏÇë áñ¹Ç ï³Ýáõï¿ñ ²ëÉ³Ù³½Ç ßÇÝ»óÇ |
½ï¥³¤×¥³¤ñë ½³Ûë, áñ Û³ÝáõÝ ë¥áõñ¤μ ÜÇÏáÕ¥³¤ÛáëÇ Û¥Ç¤-
ß¥³¤ï³Ï Ç|ÝÓ ¨ ÍÝ¥á¤Õ¥³¤óë ¨ »Õμ³ñóë ÇÙáó ¨ ÏáÕ¥³¤ÏóáÛë
Ê³Ý÷¿ñ|í³ÝÇÝ ¨ áñ¹¥á¤óë ¼áõñ³åÇÝ ¨ ä³åÇÝ ¨ ¹ëï»ñóë
¨ μ³½|Ù³ßË³ï ù¥³¤Ñ¥³¤Ý³Ûë ÇÙáÛ ï¥¿¤ñ Øáíë¿ëÇÝ ¨ »ë Ù¿-
ÉÇù ¶Çûñ·Çë | í×¥³¤ñ»óÇ Á½ÏÇÝ ëÙ³Û ³Ù¥»Ý³Û¤Ý ³Ù¿ èÖÎÂ

__________
14 ²²ëëÉÉ³³ÝÝÛÛ³³ÝÝ  êê..,,  ÎÎ³³ññ³³åå»»ïïÛÛ³³ÝÝ  êê.., ÞáõÉ³í»ñ, ºñ¨³Ý, 2002, ¿ç 63:
15 It is hard to find out whether stonemason and architect Navasard was from Harij

Village of Shirak District, Ayrarat Province, Armenia Maior (there is a village
of the same name in Shirak Region of the present-day Republic of Armenia), or
from another village of the same name about the existence of which nothing is
known to us.

16 Chardin Jean, Journal du chevalier Chardin en Perse et aux Indes orientales
par la mer Noire et par la Colchide, Londres, 1686, 1

ere
p.,  pp. 221-222.
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¥1720¤-ÇÝ. ÙÝ³ó Ï¥³¤ÃáÕÇÏ|¿Ý Û¥Ç¤ß¥³¤ï¥³¤Ï ³ÝçÝç»ÉÇ ³-
í³ñïáÕ³ó:

Published in: Brosset M., Rapports (V) sur un voyage archéologique dans la

Géorgie et dans l’Arménie executé (en 1847-1848) par M. Brosset, livre 2, St-Pb.,

1850, p. 19. ææ³³ÉÉ³³ÉÉ»»³³ÝÝóó  êê.., Ö³Ý³å³ñÑáñ¹áõÃÇõÝ Ç Ø»ÍÝ Ð³Û³ëï³Ý, Ù³ëÝ

´, î÷ËÇë, 1858, ¿ç 71: Ìóðàäÿí Ï., idem, ñòð. 69.

Transl.: Jesus Christ. By the grace of the Holy Spirit, the founda-
tions of Sourb Nshan Church were laid in the year 1703. In the
times of Levan Khan and his sons, in the days of Supreme Pontiff
Nahapet, I, City Elder Aslamaz’s son Melik Kiorki, built this
church, which is dedicated to St. Nikoghayos, in memory of my
parents, my brothers, my wife Khanpervan, my daughters, my
sons Zurap and Pap, as well as in perpetuation of meritorious
priest Movses and my soul. And I, Melik Giorgi, paid all its
expenses in the year 1720, with only its dome remaining for those

who will complete it [later] in everlasting memory [of their
souls].

Note: The first scholar to attempt the decipherment of the inscription was M.

Brosset, who, however, did it with numerous mistakes and certain omissions. A

more complete decipherment is offered by S. Jalaliants, but the scholar who car-

ried it out with absolutely no errors is Prof. P. Muradian.

A 5-line inscription engraved on a stone slab (50 x 48 cm) has

been recently found in the southern vestry of the church. It opens a

new page in the history of the reconstruction activity unfolded there

between 1703 and 1720, commemorating the overhaul of the belfry

in 1719 on the initiative of Barkhudar’s daughter Tsagan:

Î³Ù³õÝ ³¥ëïáõÍá¤Û »ë ´³ñËáõ|¹³ñÇ ¹áõëïñ ò³·³|ÝÇë

í»ñëïÇÝ Ýáñá·»ó|Ç Ñûñë ßÇÝ³Í ½³Ý·³Ï³|ïáõÝë, Ãí¥Ç¤Ý

èÖÎÀ ¥1719¤-ÇÝ:

The northern entrance tympanum of the church which bears its construction inscriptions dated 1720, 1780 & 1781
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Transl.: By God’s will, in the year 1168 (1719), I, Barkhudar’s
daughter Tsagan, again renovated the belfry built by my father. 

Published for the first time.

The church was completed only in the 1780s: its dome and

northern entrance were built in 1780 and 1781 respectively. These

events are commemorated in the inscriptions carved on the north-

ern entrance tympanum: the first of them contains 7 lines on a mar-

ble slab, a single line carved on its right and left sides comprising

the second one:

ÞÝáñÑÇõ ï¥»³é¤Ý ³¥ëïáõÍá¤Û ßÇÝ»ó³õ Ï³ÃáõÕÇÏ¿Ý |
»Ï»Õ»óõáÛë Ç Å³Ù³Ý³Ïë Ã³·³õáñáõ|Ã»¥³¤Ý íñ³ó Ð»ñ³ÏÉ»³
»õ Ñ³Ûñ³å»ïáõ|Ã»¥³¤Ý ï¥»³é¤Ý êÇÙ¿ûÝÇ ³Ù¥»Ý³ÛÝ¤ Ñ³Ûáó
Ï³ÃáõÕÇ|ÏáëÇÝ, ³ñ¹»³Ùμ Ô³½³ñÇ, áñ¹»ÝûùÝ, | ÛÇß³ï³Ï
Ñ³Ù³ÛÝ Ï»Ý¹³Ý»³ó »õ | ÝÝç»ÉáóÝ Çõñ, Ç ÃáõÇÝ èØÆÂ ¥1780¤. 

Published in: Brosset M., ibid; ææ³³ÉÉ³³ÉÉ»»³³ÝÝóó  êê.., ibid; Ìóðàäÿí Ï., idem, ñòð. 70.

Transl.: Thanks to the Lord’s mercy, the dome of the church was
built in the times of Georgian King Heracle and His Holiness
Simeon, Catholicos of All Armenians, with the means of Ghazar
and his sons, in memory of all his alive and dead relatives, in the
year 1229 (1780).

ÚÇß³ï³Ï¿ ¹áõéÝë Ù¥³¤Ñï¥»ë¤Ç ï¥¿¤ñ ÜÇÏáÕ³ÛáëÇÝ, èØÈ
¥1781¤:

Published in: Brosset M., ibid; ææ³³ÉÉ³³ÉÉ»»³³ÝÝóó  êê.., ibid; Ìóðàäÿí Ï., idem, ñòð. 70.

Transl.: This door perpetuates the memory of Mahtesy Father
Nikoghayos, 1230 (1781).

Note: P. Muradian erroneously read the name as ‘Nikoghayun.’

‘Mahtesy’ is a title used with reference to Christians who are known to have

been to Jerusalem on pilgrimage.

A relief of St. Nicholas embellishing the upper part of the west-

facing side of the tambour (above the window) dates back to the

period when the dome was erected. It has a single-line Georgian

inscription reading: wminda nikolozi (transl.: “St. Nicholas”).

The southern sacristy of the church also retains a deteriorated

tympanum broken in two parts (probably, it belonged to the old



church, which was totally destroyed in the early 18th century) with

a two-line inscription:

Ú¥Çëáõ¤ë ø¥ñÇëïá¤ë | ï¥¿¤ñ ³¥ëïáõ³¤Í:
Transl.: Lord Jesus Christ.
Published for the first time.

The process of the construction activity unfolded in Sourb

Nshan in the 18th century is described in the Notebook of
Echmiatzin, from which the following was copied: “Built by City

Elder Amir and his son, City Elder Aslamaz, and repaired by Melik

Giorgi after 1703, with its dome constructed later, in 1784, by Agha

Mehrap Sharipekian.

“City Elder Amir and his son, City Elder Aslamaz, built Sourb

Nshan Sourb Nikoghayosi Church together with its zhamatun17

and surrounding walls. Khoja Parkhutar and his spouse Darejan

constructed the belfry of Sourb Nshan with a cell. 

“Parkhutar’s daughter Yagund repaired the bell tower erected

by her father together with its cross.

“City Elder Giorgi had the church ramparts moved back

[namely, he enlarged the church grounds].

Tracings of the construction inscriptions (dated 1720, 1780 & 1781) of the northern entrance tympanum of the church

7
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“City Elder Aslamaz and his spouse Shahruban again carried

out overhaul in the sanctuary.

“Perikhan built a baldachino (khachkal).
“Melik Giorgi again reconstructed the church from its very foun-

dations and enlarged it, [making it a] beautiful arched edifice, in

1152 (1703). In 1190 (1741) it was consecrated and a divine service

was performed there (in the same year, Melik Giorgi died).

“Melik Giorgi and his wife Khampervan built an

ashurkhana18 for the sanctuary.

“Master Hakob put his apprentice Sargis under the possession

of the church so that he would serve it for a litre of oil and a quar-

ter of candles annually.

“Khozoyants Arakel and his spouse purchased a graveyard

and a plot of cell for the church.

“Alahghulunts Murat’s son Martiros and Panos built a large

door for the zhamatun.

“Andoyan Darejan Gheziliants donated a shop to the sanctu-

ary with her sons Giorgi and Harutiun.

“Gaspar’s sons Movses, Yohan and Hovsep paid for their

pawned house and gave it to the church in memory of their late

nephew Mkrtum so that later they would be buried there, too.

“Seeing the written records left by his predecessors, King

Temuraz... and made up a document permitting citizens to do

whatever they wished with [viz. the property of] those who would

die childless. Neither he nor his princes would be entitled to con-

trol anything.

“Divan Otar and his wife Khamperjan bought a stall from Melik

Eynal’s son Rostom and decided that its income should be equally

allocated to Vank, Sourb Nshan, Jigrashen, Norashen, Mughni,

Bethlehem and Kamoyants Church[es] so that the Aysmavurk19

would always be read there [in perpetuation of their memory]. 

“Mahtesy Nikoghayos... renovated the church door with

newly-hewn stones.

“Mehrap Agha’s son, Yenovk Agha, built a splendid lofty

dome for the church... which had been standing without it for

[more than] 50 years. It was surmounted by a gilded cross, with a

circular gallery beneath it. Without sparing his means, he adorned

it with representations of the 12 Apostles and 4 Evangelists, also

placing 7 images... along the bema.”20

As is evident, some of the acts and events commemorated in the

Notebook of Echmiatzin are directly reflected in the aforementioned

well-known and newly-found inscriptions; therefore, it is logical that

the person who put down these notes was familiar with, and made

use from, the inscriptions which had been neglected for a long time

due to their being kept in the southern sacristy of the church.21

So the 19th century saw Sourb Nshan as completed from an

architectural point of view, but its parishioners who kept it under

their constant care periodically unfolded some construction activ-

ity or partial overhaul there: thus, in 1830 the interior of the mon-

ument was enriched with frescoes on church deputy Avetik

Piroyan’s initiative22; in 1837 it underwent general renovation; in

1861 a chapel was built close to it; in 1868 partial overhaul was

carried out there, etc.  

In 1833 the southern entrance of the church was re-laid with

finely-dressed stones, this event being commemorated in a bilin-

gual (Armenian and Georgian) inscription which was carved on

the tympanum of the same entrance:

ÞÇÝ»ó³õ ¹áõéë ë¥áõñ¤μ »Ï»Õ»óõáÛ ³ñ¹»³Ùμ μ³½Ù³ßË³ï
³õ³· ù¥³¤Ñ¥³¤Ý¥³¤Û ï¥¿¤ñ ÚáíÑ³ÝÝ¿ë ¼³|é³÷»³ÝÇÝ Ç ÛÇ-
ß³ï¥³¤Ï Çõñ »õ Ï»Ý³ÏóáÛÝ, ¹ëï»ñÝª Ù¿ÉÇù ¼áõñ³μÇ »õ áñ-
¹áóÝ, 1833:

ufalo, moixsene dekanozi memkvidre ter-ohanez

zarafovi da misi mSobelni welsa CCyyllgg-sa martis

i.

Published in: Ìóðàäÿí Ï., idem, ñ. 70.

Transl.: This holy door of the church was made through the means of
meritorious Archpriest Father Hovhannes Zarapian in perpetuation of
his, his spouse’s, [as well as] Melik Zurab’s and his sons’ memory, 1833.

__________

21 It should be noted that both Ignat Ioseliany and M. Brosset, who was the first

to study the lapidary heritage of Sourb Nshan, were unaware of the existence of

these newly-found inscriptions and the Notebook of Echmiatzin. The former

only writes the following: “This church was built with the means of citizen

(Mokalak) Amir Mamasakhlis, from whose family Zurab Melikov is alive at

present” ¥ØØ»»ÉÉÇÇùùëë»»ÃÃ--´́»»ÏÏ  ÈÈ.., ìñ³ó ³ÕμÛáõñÝ»ñÁ Ð³Û³ëï³ÝÇ ¨ Ñ³Û»ñÇ

Ù³ëÇÝ, Ñ. 3, ºñ¨³Ý, 1955, ¿ç 267¤. Some passing reference to the construc-

tion of the church is also found in an article by A. Yeritsian: “The citizens

Muntoyan, Bastamian and Bashinjaghian built Moghni, and the Aslamazians

Sourb Nshan...” ¥§²ñÓ³·³Ýù¦, 1882, ¹ 11, 2 Ù³ÛÇëÇ, ¿ç 169¤.

22 ì²¸, ý. 500, ó. 8, ·. 74, Ã. 5:

__________

17 A large vestibule in Armenian churches (often standing separately) also used

for burials.

18 We failed to find an explanation for this word.

19 A large volume containing the martyrologies and lives of saints which are read

before the start of the vesper service.

20 Ð²¸, ý. 332, ó. 1, ·. 102, Ã. 8:
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Note: The author deciphered this inscription with certain inaccuracy in mean-

ing which was reflected in its Russian translation as well. 

On the occasion of the Russian Emperor’s planned visit to

Tpghis, on 28 May 1837, the Primate of the Armenian diocese

of Georgia, Archbishop Tadevos, addressed a letter to Agha

Avetis Piroyants, deputy of Sourb Nshan Church, calling on

him to carry out some overhaul there: “...all the church build-

ings should be improved and renovated before the expected

arrival of the Emperor together with its booths, houses and ram-

parts: they should be

plastered and paint-

ed some appropriate

colour, for the pur-

pose of which...

...therefore, I would

like to tell Your

Excellency to

embark upon the

repairs and decora-

tion of the entire

church on the 29th

of the current month

in the following

manner: its interior

is to be plastered

and painted either

marble or another

suitable colour.

Outwardly, it should be plastered and painted yellow or white.

The newly-erected chapel standing in front of its main door

should be plastered and painted... and its ramparts ought to be

plastered both inwardly and outwardly and painted yellow or

white. Furthermore, all the parts of the church should be embel-

lished for the beauty of the city. For this purpose, we have

appointed Archpriest Hovhannes Zarapian and Father Andreas

Ter-Stepanian to collaborate with You and support You: they

have been told to handle all the work excellently for the bene-

fit of the church.”23

In 1861 citizen of Tpghis Varvare Rotiniants built a burial

chapel (probably, the author of this information means the south-

ern porch of Sourb Nshan, which has turned into a funerary struc-

ture like the northern one) in memory of her husband Gabriel

Amiraghiants, who was buried close to the church. In commemo-

ration of this event, the following inscription was carved on a

stone set in the lateral part of the southern entrance:

Î³Ý·Ý»³ó ½³Ûë Ù³ïáõé | ÃÇýÉÇ½áÛ ù³Õ³ù³ó|áõÑÇ ì³é-
í³é¿ Û³½·¿ | ðûïÇÝ»³Ýóª Ç ÛÇß³ï³Ï | ³ÙáõëÝáÛ ÇõñáÛ
¶³μñÇ|¿ÉÇ ¶¿áñ·»³Ý ²ÙÇñ³|Õ»³Ýó ³ëï Ñ³Ý·áõó»|ÉáÛ,
ÃáõÇÝ 1861, ÝáÛ»Ùμ. 1:

Transl.: This chapel was erected by citizen of Tiflis Varvare from
the Rotiniantses’ family in memory of her husband Gabriel
Gevorgian Amiraghiants, who is interred here, on 1 November
1861.

Published in: Ìóðàäÿí Ï., idem, ñ. 70-71.

Sourb Nshan also went through overhaul in 1868: the work

which required 1,020 roubles included the repairs of the baldachi-

no (300 roubles), the whitewashing of its interior (500 roubles),

etc.24

In 1886 it is mentioned among the 24 Armenian churches of

the city, with a parish of 1,925 members.25

In 1891 the Charity Society of Armenian Women allocated

543 roubles 10 kopecks for the renovation of the church.26

In 1894 the monument faced the necessity of further overhaul:

“One of the churches situated in the heart of the city, Sourb

Nshan, which is already very old, is in bad need of urgent repairs:

otherwise, it will be [greatly] endangered.”27

In 1928 the church closed, with its door sealed, but in March

1930, it was returned to its parishioners.28

On 3 May 1931, the Primate of the Armenian eparchy of

Georgia, Bishop Artak,

addressed a letter of protest

to the Central Executive

Committee of the Republic

of Georgia, particularly

stating the following: “For

several times, the Diocese

Council has applied to the

proper bodies trying to

intercede for the return of

Khojivank Church and the

opening of Sourb Nshan

__________

23 Ø³ï»Ý³¹³ñ³Ý, ý. 49, ÃÕÃ. 148, í³í. 179:

__________

24 Ð²¸, ý. 56, ó. 1, ·. 5061, Ã. 1:

25 “Ìèíèñòåðñòâî âíóòðåííèõ äåë. Äåïàðòàìåíò äóõîâíûõ äåë èíî-

ñòðàííûõ èñïîâåäàíèé. Àëôàâèòíûå ñïèñêè àðìÿíî-ãðèãîðèàí-

ñêèõ öåðêâåé è ìàãîìåòàíñêèõ ìå÷åòåé â èìïåðèè”, Ñ.Ïåòåð-

áóðã, 1886, ñ. 60-61.

26 §²ñÓ³·³Ýù¦, 1891, ¹ 7, 28 ³åñÇÉÇ, ¿ç 102:

27 §²ñÓ³·³Ýù¦, 1894, ¹ 65, ¿ç 1:

28 ì³í»ñ³·ñ»ñ Ñ³Û »Ï»Õ»óáõ å³ïÙáõÃÛ³Ý, ·Çñù ¶, ºñ¨³Ý, 1997, ¿ç 526:
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The dome of Sourb Nshan (Holy Sign) Church from the north-west ¥photo by S. Darchinian, 1990¤ and the cross added to it in 1780 ¥photo by A. Hakobian, 2012¤
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The structures erected illegally close to Sourb Nshan (Holy Sign) Church in the mid-1990s ¥photos by S. Darchinian, 1994 & 1996¤; the monument from the north-west and east

¥photos by S. Darchinian, 1970s¤
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Church, but up to this day, no instructions have been issued with

regard to these repeated requests.”29

In the Soviet years, the church building was used for various

purposes: “During the World War, the church was reduced to a

storehouse of macaroni and vermicelli. Later it housed the stacks

of the National Library, mostly including its collection of

Armenian periodical press.”30

The building of Sourb Nshan, which never ceased serving for

different purposes, was exposed to continual deterioration and

needed repairs, but such work was never carried out there,

although the board attached to its northern wall said: “The monu-

ment is protected by the State. Those causing any damage to it are

to be punished by law” (it is still preserved with the same words

written on it). 

After Georgia became an independent state, the condition of

the monument kept worsening; moreover, it was no longer regard-

ed as a historical monument, for gradually more and more resi-

dential buildings—evidently, erected illegally, but with the con-

nivance of the authorities—sprang up directly close to its walls.

In September 1998, several employees of Georgia’s

Department for the Preservation of Monuments who pretended to

be concerned about the fate of the church declared to the

Armenians of its neighbourhood that it would shift into the pos-

session of the Georgian Patriarchate if they did not embark on its

renovation within a month.31

Sourb Nshan (Holy Sign) Church a day after the major fire of 20 October 2002 ¥photo by S. Darchinian¤ and its interior in 2007 ¥photo by S. Karapetian¤

__________

31 “Ãîëîñ Àðìåíèè”, 1998, 26.09, ¹ 108, ñ. 1.

__________

29 Idem, ¿ç 516.

30 ¶¶»»ÝÝáá, ²Ý¿³ÝáõÙ ¿ ÂÇýÉÇëÇ å³ïÙáõÃÛáõÝÁ..., §Èñ³·Çñ ûñ¦, 1996, 18 ÑáõÝ-

í³ñÇ, ¿ç 6:
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This fact directly proves that the proper bodies of Georgia did

not view Sourb Nshan as a historical monument subject to preser-

vation.

Four years later, on the night of 20 October 2002, a fire broke

out inside the sanctuary: the person who was to blame for it

remained “unidentified,”32 as claimed by a press publication,

while according to another, the monument had been set on fire

“due to a Russian vagabond’s negligence.”33 The raging confla-

gration was extinguished only through the united efforts of 9 fire-

brigades...34

In the aftermath of this fire, the layers of plaster, covering the

interior of the church almost entirely, were damaged and started

falling off: this is especially regretful given the fact that they were

mostly embellished with frescoes tracing back to the 18th to 19th

The tiled roof of the church, which was seriously damaged by the conflagration of 2002, easily fell prey to vegetation in the subsequent years ¥photos by N. Akopov, 2011 & S.

Karapetian, 2007¤

__________

32 BS-PRESS, “Ïîæàð òóøèëè äåâÿòü ìàøèí”, “Âå÷åðíèé Òáèëè-

ñè”, 2002, 22-23 îêòÿáðÿ, ¹ 121. The author of the article did not forget

to declare: “The sanctuary was built 300 years ago and belonged to the

Georgian Orthodox Church until the mid-19th century. Later it passed into the pos-

session of the Armenian Church” ¥the original reads: “Çäàíèå öåðêâè ïîñ-

òðîåíî 300 ëåò íàçàä, äî ñåðåäèíû XIX âåêà îíî ïðèíàäëåæàëî

__________

ãðóçèíñêîé ïðàâîñëàâíîé öåðêâè, ïîòîì ïåðåøëî ê àðìÿíñêîé

öåðêâè”¤. After these lines, we can only add: “No comment...”
33 “asaval-dasavali”, 28.10-3.11, 2002, ¹ 44:
34 “Âå÷åðíèé Òáèëèñè”, 2002, 22-23 îêòÿáðÿ, ¹ 121.
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Partial views of the mural paintings of Sourb Nshan (Holy Sign) Church ¥photos by S. Darchinian, 1976¤
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Remnants of frescoes preserved after the conflagration of 2002 only to fall prey to the

fires of January 2012 ¥photos by S. Karapetian, 2007¤
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centuries (the last of them date from 1830). What is even more

painful, before this fire, the church was constantly closed before

visitors—in this way, the Georgians wanted to conceal the fact

that it was being used for various purposes—so that researchers

were unable to at least photograph the rare specimens of Tpghis’

Armenian school of mural painting, which are now irreparably

lost. A certain idea can be formed about these treasures only by

means of several amateur photographs taken in the 1970s.

After the fire, the emergency condition of Sourb Nshan grew

incomparably graver, for it had been extinguished with water—some-

thing impermissible as far as historical monuments are concerned—

the sediments deposited from which accumulated in the central part of

the prayer hall and in the northern porch where it comprised graves.

Eventually, in 2007 the church, which was filled with rubbish

and had been reduced to a place of refuge for dogs and vagabonds,

did receive the status of a historical monument, which shows that

after the proclamation of Georgia’s independence, it was truly

removed from the lists of the historical monuments of Tbilisi.35

However, Sourb Nshan was to go through further calamities:

on 3 and 7 January 2012, two more fires broke out there under

unspecified circumstances. They were again put out with water, as

a result of which, the sediments became even more striking (the

depression of the prayer hall now reached a metre). Besides, the

The sediments accumulated in the central part of the prayer hall and in the porch standing in front of the northern entrance: they were deposited from the water with which the

fires of January 2012 were extinguished ¥photos by N. Akopov, 2012¤

__________
35NccxxooiiZZee  nn.., istoriul Zeglad cnobili spmxuri eklesis ZaR-

lebus Tavuesafred iqca, “rezonansi”, 5.02.2010, gv. 5: Also see
Èç öåðêâè óáðàëè ïñàðíþ, “Ãîëîâèíñêèé ïðîñïåêò”, 2010, ¹ 7.
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extreme heat became the reason for the collapse of one of the 4

dome-bearing pillars, namely, the north-eastern one, while the

cracks that had appeared in the western and eastern facades of the

monument grew more dangerous. Those of the porch (it was built

in front of the northern entrance of the church and also served as

a belfry and a burial chapel), which had been visible since 2002,

grew highly perilous.

In March 2012, the National Agency for Cultural Heritage of

Georgia started the removal of the rubbish-like mass which had

accumulated inside Sourb Nshan after the burning of the stacks

and the falling of plaster (this work was still underway in April).

In order to prevent the possible collapse of certain parts of the

monument, supporting metallic and wooden constructions were

placed inside it and in its northern porch. However, the heavy

shower of 14 May totally destroyed the four-pillar porch, which

evidently had not been conserved properly.

At present (June 2012), the church is still preserved standing,

but it is in a grave state of emergency.

Architectural Description. One of the earliest available

descriptions of the monument is provided by I. Ioseliany, who

says the following about it (the material is entitled A Description
of the Antiquities of Tpghis and Somkhit, 1837): “The church that

is named Sourb Nshan and is  ...it is a magnificent domed edifice

dedicated to St. Nicholas and resting on four pillars. Its dome is

covered with green bricks, while the church itself and its wings

are tiled. It has three sanctuaries: the middle one is the largest,

The successive fires of 3 & 7 January 2012 destroyed the north-eastern pillar of the church (they were extinguished in a manner impermissible for historical monuments—with

water ¥photos by N. Akopov, January 2012¤
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The cleaning of the church in January and February 2012 ¥photos by N. Akopov¤
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The metallic and wooden constructions placed inside the church between March and April 2012 to prevent the possible collapse of the monument ¥photos by A. Hakobian¤
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bearing St. Nicholas’ name; the northern one is dedicated to

Andrew the Apostle, and the southern one to St. Gevorg...”36

Michael Sulian writes the following in his memoirs: “...it is a

large wide church making the impression of an old one. It is said

to resemble Sourb Nshan Church of Haghpat and bear its

name.”37

Another architectural description of the monument is offered

by Dr. of Architecture Murad Hasratian.38

A record of the early 1980s states: “At present the church has

turned into stacks. Its lofty dome and striking dimensions make it

greatly different from the other buildings of Tiflis. It was also

The plan of Sourb Nshan (Holy Sign) Church ¥measurement by A. Hakobian, 2007¤

Partial views of the interior of Sourb Nshan (Holy Sign) Church ¥photos by S.

Karapetian, 2007 & 2012¤

The plan of the second-floor vestry

m

__________

36 ØØ»»ÉÉÇÇùùëë»»ÃÃ––´́»»ÏÏ ÈÈ., idem, ¿ç 266:

37 êêááõõÉÉ»»³³ÝÝ  ØØ.., ÂÇýÉÇë ù³Õ³ùÁ ÇÙ Ù³ÝÏáõÃ»³Ý Å³Ù³Ý³Ï, Ð²¸, ý. 428, ó.

2, ·. 104, Ã. 19:

38 Àñðàòÿí Ì., Ïàìÿòíèêè ñðåäíåâåêîâîé àðõèòåêòóðû â Òáèëèñè,

II ìåæäóíàðîäíûé ñèìïîçèóì ïî àðìÿíñêîìó èñêóññòâó, òîì 2,

Åðåâàí, 1978, ñ. 399.
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mentioned by Jean Chardin. Its architectural features reveal the

traces of renovation carried out in late periods.”39

Sourb Nshan represents a tri-nave domed basilica—a compo-

sition that was quite wide-spread in Armenian church-building

between the 17th and 18th centuries. Its vaults and outwardly

dodecahedral drum, which ends in a pointed spire, are inwardly

supported by two pairs of thick columns. Three windows, widen-

ing inwardly, open from the eastern semi-circular sanctuary (it is

the one dedicated to St. Nicholas). In the north and south, the

church has two double-floor sacristies (each of them has a sanctu-

ary dedicated to St. Andrew the Apostle and St. Gevorg respec-

tively) the entrances of which open from the west into the prayer

hall. On the second storey, their entrances open into the chancel

with which each of them communicates by means of 17 stairs. 

The entire monument is mainly built of brick, although stones

are used, too (especially in its main masonry, cornices and

entrance corners). Its roof is covered with tiles. The interior of the

church used to be embellished with murals, a considerable part of

which is ascribed to the Hovnatanians’ school of wall painting. It

The dome of Sourb Nshan (Holy Sign) Church inwardly ¥photo by S. Karapetian, 2007¤

__________

39 kkvviirrkkvveelliiaa  TT.., ibid.
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The northern porch of the church from the north-west and west; reliefs ¥photos by S. Karapetian, 1989¤
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The northern porch of the church from the north-west and west; reliefs ¥photos by S. Karapetian, 2012¤
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has three entrances opening from its northern, southern and west-

ern facades. Its western pediment is surmounted by a rotunda rest-

ing on eight pillars. The porch of four columns, which stood in

front of its northern entrance before the disastrous shower of 14

May 2012, used to have a belfry, too: it probably collapsed (or

was destroyed) in the first decades of the Soviet rule. The walls of

the church are rich in Armenian inscriptions. Exterior dimensions

¥without the northern porch): 29.45 x 14.60 metres.

Estates. Sourb Nshan Church owned profitable real estate the

income of which was used for the clergymen serving there and for

the parochial school attached to it.

Chronologically, the donations made to the church represent

the following picture:

In 1824 in accordance with the will of Gaspar Barseghian,

who was from Van in origin, Sourb Nshan became one of the 17

Armenian churches of the city each of which received 10 roubles

in silver coins for their needs and a rouble for their sextons.40

A record of 1838 states the following: “The church of Sourb

Nshan, which has lofty ramparts, has a vacant area of 1,116

gazes...41 in its vicinity. There are two rooms close to its belfry:

one of them is unoccupied, being intended for priests, and the

other is inhabited by the sexton free of charge. The [dwellers of

The porch built in front of the northern entrance of Sourb Nshan (Holy Sign) Church as totally destroyed on 14 May as a result of the heavy showers of the preceding days ¥photo

by N. Akopov, 14 May 2012¤

__________
40 Ø³ï»Ý³¹³ñ³Ý, ý. 155, ·. 68:
41 A unit of length equal to 112 cm.
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the] house of [church] serf Giko Hunanov are his widow Lalu, her

son and two daughters, who pay nothing to the church. The house

of [another] serf, Pap’s son Karapet, [comprises] Mayin and

Ketevan, who pay nothing either.”42

In 1843 the income received from the serfs of the church

amounted to 210 roubles.43

In 1898 State Councillor Grigor Solomonian Abisalomiants

donated his own income-yielding booth, located in the 5th part of

the city and assessed at 5,000 roubles, to the church.44

Church Deputies. Below follows a chronological list of de-

puties elected to represent Sourb Nshan Church in different dioce-

san affairs and events: 1868 (year of election) - Alexandre

Tayiriants (he was an official), Grigor Shanshiants and Solomon

Vardzeliants;45 1872 - State Councillor Alexandre Ghazarian

Tayiriants, Collegiate Secretary Hakob Gevorgian Avtandiliants

and Grigor Harutiunian Ghandubaliants, who bore the title of

Citizen of Tpghis (they were to elect new trustees for Nersissian

School of Tiflis);46 29 January 1884 - Hakob Ter-Hovhannissian,

Barsegh Ghandubaliants, Gabriel Mirzoyan and Nikoghayos Ter-

Harutiunian ;47 10 January 1885 -  Hovhannes Ter-Karapetian,

Gevorg Enakolopiants and Hakob Ter-Hakobiants;48 7 April 1891

- Hakob Ter-Hovhannissiants, Sokrat Melik Adamiants and

Grigor Enikolopiants;49 26 January 1892 - Hovhannes Ter-

Karapetian, Barsegh Ghandubaliants and Gabriel Mirzoyan;50

1914 - H. Hambardzumian and S. Khanghalamian, with B.

Amiraghian and S. Khachikian elected as their substitutes.51

Priests. In 164652 and 165653 mention is made of Priest Ohan.

A note of gratitude issued by the Catholicos of All Armenians

in October 1789 makes reference to “...Father Grigor, one of the

members of the monastic community of Sourb Nshan...”54

In 1837 Hovhannes Zarapiants (Zarapov) is mentioned.55

From 24 October 1881 until at least 1914, Grigor Hovhan-

nissian Shermazaniants (born in 1851, ordained in 1881) served in

Sourb Nshan, and from 27 July 1887 until at least 1914, Garegin

Markossian Arakeliants (born in 1857, ordained in 1887) per-

formed the same duties there.56

In 1888 Arakel Hakobian Aziziants57 was the spiritual shep-

herd of the parish of Sourb Nshan.

Male School of Sourb Nshan Church. It opened under

Catholicos Nerses Ashtaraketsy’s bull of 2 June 1848.58

Early in 1861, it was one of the 6 schools attached to the

Armenian churches of the city (the other sanctuaries with similar

establishments were St. Gevorg of Mughni, that of the castle of

Narighala, St. Sargis, St. Minas and Shamkoretsots Sourb

Astvatzatzin).59

The school also worked in 1873 and 1875 having only 18

pupils.60

A record of 1875 states that the establishment was in an incon-

solable state: “...it so happened that we visited Sourb Nshan

Church and found its school in a miserable condition. It is a long

time since classes terminated there: the building is reduced to

ruins, with the school property being scattered here and there,

deteriorated and broken.”61

In April 1875, mention is made of the trustees of the school,

Father Ghevond Kharaziants and G. Akimiants.62

Early in 1876, it was headed by teacher Harutiun

Shahnazarian: “It is a great shame for us to have a school like that

in Tiflis. ...a small dirty room without a furnace, the broken glass

of its windows replaced by paper, and that for only half of them...

we shall have a clear idea about the condition of the poor children

especially ...in the severe cold of winter...”63

Sextons’ School of Sourb Nshan. Ignoring the extremely

miserable state of the children’s school, in 1876 the spiritual

authorities opened a new one in the church for sextons: “...on the

order of the Most Reverend Archbishop Gabriel, a school has__________

42 Ð²¸, ý. 56, ó. 6, ·. 39, Ã. 61:

43 Ð²¸, ý. 56, ó. 4, ·. 787, Ã. 75, 145:

44 Ð²¸, ý. 56, ó. 18, ·. 363, Ã. 1:

45 §Ø»Õáõ Ð³Û³ëï³ÝÇ¦, 1868, ¹ 12, 23 Ù³ñïÇ, ¿ç 84-85:

46 §Ø»Õáõ Ð³Û³ëï³ÝÇ¦, 1872, ¹ 30, 23 ë»åï»Ùμ»ñÇ, ¿ç 120:

47 §²ñÓ³·³Ýù¦, 1884, ¹ 5, 5 ÷»ïñáõ³ñÇ, ¿ç 68:

48 §Ø»Õáõ Ð³Û³ëï³ÝÇ¦, 1885, ¹ 18, 7 Ù³ñïÇ, ¿ç 3-4:

49 §²ñÓ³·³Ýù¦, 1891, ¹ 6, 19 ³åñÇÉÇ, ¿ç 82:

50 §²ñÓ³·³Ýù¦, 1892, ¹ 12, 29 ÛáõÝáõ³ñÇ ¥10 ÷»ïñáõ³ñÇ¤, ¿ç 2:

51 §ÐáñÇ½áÝ¦, 1914, ¹ 113, 28 Ù³ÛÇëÇ, ¿ç 2:

52 Ð²¸, ý. 56, ó. 6, ·. 39, Ã. 57:

53 Ä¾¶, ¿ç 721:

54 ¸Çí³Ý Ñ³Ûáó å³ïÙáõÃÛ³Ý, ·Çñù ³é³çÇÝ, Ñ³ïáñ ´, ºñ¨³Ý, 2003, ¿ç

497:

55 ØØ»»ÉÉÇÇùùëë»»ÃÃ––´́»»ÏÏ ÈÈ.., idem, ¿ç 266:

__________

56 Ð²¸, ý. 56, ó. 18, ·. 1020, Ã. 221-222: Also see ý. 53, ó. 1, ·. 795, Ã. 53; ·.

331, Ã. 74:

57 §²ñÓ³·³Ýù¦, 1888, ¹ 31, 14 û·áëïáëÇ, ¿ç 421:

58 ÊÊááõõ¹¹ááÛÛ³³ÝÝ  êê.., ²ñ¨»É³Ñ³Û ¹åñáóÝ»ñÁ 1830-1920 Ãí³Ï³ÝÝ»ñÇÝ, ºñ¨³Ý,

1987, ¿ç 593:

59 §Ø»Õáõ Ð³Û³ëï³ÝÇ¦, 1861, ¹ 14, 1 ³åñÇÉÇ, ¿ç 108:

60 ÊÊááõõ¹¹ááÛÛ³³ÝÝ  êê.., idem, ¿ç 593:

61 §Ø»Õáõ Ð³Û³ëï³ÝÇ¦, 1875, ¹ 14, 12 ³åñÇÉÇ, ¿ç 2:

62 Ibid.

63 §Ø»Õáõ Ð³Û³ëï³ÝÇ¦, 1876, ¹ 5, 7 ÷»ïñí³ñÇ, ¿ç 3:
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opened in the yard of Sourb Nshan Church for sextons. The num-

ber of those studying there is about forty.”64

Female School of Sourb Nshan Church. A record of 1873

states that in the same year, “The highly-respected Mrs. Ter-

Grigoriants opened a school for girls in Sourb Nshan on the author-

ities’ permission,”65 but it is generally held that this establishment

opened in 1883 by the Charity Society of Armenian Women. In 1884

it had 200 pupils.66

In 1884 the General Meeting of the Charity Society granted its

Administration with permission to use 2,000 roubles from its

budget “...for the construction of a school house in the narthex of

Sourb Nshan Church. For that purpose, the Primate had ordered to

allocate 2,000 roubles from the budget of Sourb Nshan together

with another 160 roubles collected through private donations. The

work, however, was not initiated at once: it was only in February

of the current year that they began laying the foundations of the

building. The Administration is planning to carry out that goal in

the future, and at present they intend to only build its substructure

and erect a wall in that site.”67

In 1885 the Charity Society of Armenian Women addressed a

note of gratitude to Doctor David Orbely, who visited the school of

Sourb Nshan once a week, free of charge and gave its pupils useful

information on health care.68

In the same year, Nikoghayos Meghvinian and Markos

Dolukhanian presented the school (it had 30 pupils) with a com-

plete volume of the “Aghbyur” magazine.69

In 1887 Miss Nune Pridonian (Russian) and Makar Vardikian

(Singing) taught at the female school, which had only a single

department.70

A record of 1888 says: “...the school which is situated in the

narthex of Sourb Nshan Church. It is housed in a very comfort-

able building: the classrooms and narthex are so clean that they

can meet the highest standards of health care... Apparently, the

staff of female teachers pays great attention to the needlework of

the pupils so that those from poor families may be able to earn

their living and support their parents through their own work. In

the fulfillment of this goal, the Charity Society is greatly assisted

by Miss B. Zohrabian...”71

On 29 May 1888, “The school of the Charity Society of

Armenian Women, located in the narthex of Sourb Nshan Church,

held a prize-awarding ceremony. ...The teacher of the school, Miss

Zohrabian, read its annual report and the names of the graduating

pupils, giving each of them a Certificate and a Gospel...”72

On 21 September 1888, “...the opening of the second depart-

ment (it was dedicated to the Armenian Charity Society) of the

female school of Sourb Nshan took place in the presence of its

women-trustees, the members of this Charity, the pupils and their

parents. The newly-opened school [department] holds classes in

Shahparunian’s house in Sergiyevsk Street. It offers education for

those pupils who have completed their course in the first depart-

ment of the institution. At present the school, which consists of

three departments, has 41 female pupils, 27 of whom have come

from other establishments, and the remaining 14 have completed

their education in the school of the Armenian Charity this

year...”73

On 10 October 1888, the school received Catholicos Makar I

of Teghut: “His Holiness condescended to visit the school of

Sourb Nshan Church, which works under the auspices of the

Charity Society of Armenian Women and is governed with its

means. The members of the Administration of the Society, their sub-

stitutes and the teachers of the school were all in the school balcony.

The Primate of the diocese, the Right Reverend Bishop Aristakes,

who is also Honorary President of the Charity, introduced the

Head of its Administration, Princess Katerine Behboutian, to His

Holiness, and she in her turn introduced the members, deputy

members, as well as the chief teacher and other teachers of the

school to the Catholicos. His Holiness went to the school hall,

where the pupils were lined up: they sang a song titled Babe, after

which the chief teacher, Miss Varvare Zohrabian, was honoured to

introduce the graduates to the Catholicos: these pupils now con-

tinue their education in a school of sewing founded by the

Charity...”74

In 1891 the Charity Society of Armenian Women allocated

2,506 roubles to the school.75

A record of the same year states that “The Charity supports the

parochial school of Sourb Nshan Church and that of sewing at its

own expense.”76

__________

72 §²ñÓ³·³Ýù¦, 1888, ¹ 21, 5 ÛáõÝÇëÇ, ¿ç 293:

73 §²ñÓ³·³Ýù¦, 1888, ¹ 37, 27 ë»åï»Ùμ»ñÇ, ¿ç 506:
74 §²ñÓ³·³Ýù¦, 1888, ¹ 40, 16 ÑáÏï»Ùμ»ñÇ, ¿ç 544:
75 §²ñÓ³·³Ýù¦, 1891, ¹ 7, 28 ³åñÇÉÇ, ¿ç 102: 
76 §²ñÓ³·³Ýù¦, 1891, ¹ 5, ¿ç 69:

__________
64 ººññ½½ÝÝÏÏ»»³³ÝÝóó  ¶¶.., Üáñ³μ³ó áõëáõÙÝ³ñ³Ý ïÇñ³óáõ³ó Ñ³Ù³ñ ÂÇýÉÇëáõÙ,

§Ø»Õáõ Ð³Û³ëï³ÝÇ¦, 1876, ¹ 40, 16 ÑáÏï»Ùμ»ñÇ, ¿ç 3:
65 §Ø»Õáõ Ð³Û³ëï³ÝÇ¦, 1873, ¹ 9, 10 Ù³ñïÇ, ¿ç 3:
66 §²ñÓ³·³Ýù¦, 1884, ¹ 10, 11 Ù³ñïÇ, ¿ç 143:
67 §Ø»Õáõ Ð³Û³ëï³ÝÇ¦, 1885, ¹ 29, ÑÇÝ·ß³μÃÇ, 18 ³åñÇÉÇ, ¿ç 3:
68 Ibid.
69 Ibid.
70 Ð²¸, ý. 35, ó. 1, ·. 8, Ã. 22:
71 §²ñÓ³·³Ýù¦, 1888, ¹ 10, 20 Ù³ñïÇ, ¿ç 125:
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Hovhannes Khudadian, the husband of Varvare Khudadian,

who had died in April 1892, donated 100 roubles to the female

school of Sourb Nshan in memory of his spouse.77

In the academic year of 1891/1892, the girls’ school of Sourb

Nshan, which had a single class, had 6 teachers: Deacon

Hovhannes Nazariants, head teacher Nune Pridoniants, Galust

Abuliants, Alexandre Simeoniants, Mariam Malumiants and

Srbuhi Susaniants.78

On the eve of the closing of the Armenian schools throughout

the Russian Empire, namely in 1896, the female school of Sourb

Nshan had two classes with 5 departments.79

In 1907/1908 it merged into that of Kamoyants Church.80

In 1911 it was a two-class institution with a 5-year instruction

course.81

Hospital. This establishment worked in Yagor Gharajian’s

house between 1873 and 1874.82

Cemetery. It chiefly extended in the north of Sourb Nshan,

with some graves located in the west of the church. In the 1970s,

most of the tombstones situated in the main cemetery were cov-

ered with asphalt: the few others escaped this fate only thanks to

their being a little higher.

Apart from tombstones, the graveyard of Sourb Nshan also

retained funerary memorials, only two of which have come down

to us: one of them (1858) is dedicated to Avetik Piroyan and the

other (1894) to Barsegh Meghviniants. 

Some of the graves of the cemetery belonged to the

Abisoghomiantses, the Begtabekiantses, the Meghviniantses and

the Piroyantses, with epitaphs engraved on them.

1. In 1743 one of the clergymen of Sourb Nshan who had con-

tributed to its decoration “through strenuous efforts” found repose

in the four-pillar porch located in front of its northern entrance.

The right part of his tombstones is entirely weathered from top to

bottom, and for this reason, only the following is read from the

inscription which originally comprised 11 lines:

²Ûë ¿ ï³å³Ý... | ³í³ù ¿ñ¿ó ï¥¿¤ñ...| Çë³, áñ »Ï»Õ»ó... | ó
μ³½áõÙ ³ß[Ë³ï]|³Ýûù ç³Ý³ó ...| ...ù Ó»é... | ³ó Ç ï³å³-
ÝÇë... |ó Ã¿ ³ßË³ñùÇÝ ...| ³ó, ûí Ï³ñ¹³ [³ëÇ áÕáñ]|ÙÇ Ñ³Ý-
·»³õ Ç ï¥¿¤ñ ... | èÖÔ´ ¥1743¤:

Published in: Ìóðàäÿí Ï., idem, ñ. 71.

Transl.: In this grave reposes... Archpriest, Father... ...did every-
thing through strenuous efforts... ...May those who read this pray
for his soul. He yielded up his spirit to God... in 1192 (1743).

Note: We have presented the decipherment offered by P. Muradian with cer-

tain additions.

2. The gravestone of Sulkhan Bektabekiants (he was buried in

front of the western entrance of the church in 1788), which was

preserved in situ until the early 1980s, had only a Georgian epi-

taph:

__________
77 §²ñÓ³·³Ýù¦, 1892, ¹ 44, 15 ¥27¤ ³åñÇÉÇ, ¿ç 1:
78 Ð²¸, ý. 56, ó. 15, ·. 26, Ã. 24:
79 ÊÊááõõ¹¹ááÛÛ³³ÝÝ  êê.., idem, ¿ç 594:
80 Ibid.
81 Ibid.
82 §Øß³Ï¦, 1873,  ¹ 21, ¿ç 4: Also see §Ø»Õáõ Ð³Û³ëï³ÝÇ¦, 1874, ¹ 21, 1

ÛáõÝÇëÇ, ¿ç 4.

A partial view of the graves located in the four-pillar belfry-porch built in front of the

northern entrance of the church ¥photo by S. Karapetian, 1989¤



28

saqarTvelos mefis iraklis vic-kancler

<md>ivani Tavadi sulxan begTabegovi aR(v)esrule

agvistos qa uov, we(ls)a CCRRkkcc.

Transl.: Vice-Chancellor of Georgian King Heracle, Mdivan and
Tavad Sulkhan Begtabegov departed this life in August 476
according to the Chronicon.

Published in: Ìåëèêñåò-Áåêîâ Ë., Óñûïàëüíèöà êí. Áåãòàáåãîâûõ,

Òèôëèñ, 1914, ñ. 4. Ìóðàäÿí Ï., idem, ñ. 71.

3. The graveyard retains a marble slab with a bilingual (Arme-

nian in 5 lines and Georgian in 7) inscription which was probably

placed there in 1855 in memory of Zakaria Abesalomiants by his

son Soghomon:

...Ï³éáõó³õ Ç 18... | ...1855 ³ÙÇ ³ñ¹»³Ùμù ... | ...êûÉûÙáÝÇ
²μ»ëûÕáÙ... | ... ¥ÛÇß³ï³Ï¤ ÍÝáÕ³ó Çõñáó ¼³ù³|¥ñÇ³ÛÇ »õ¤
Þáõß³Ý³Û:

Transl.: ...built in 18... ...in 1855 with the means of... ...Solomon
Abesoghom... ...in memory of his parents Zakaria and Shushan.

aq... (moqa)laqed yofilsa | abesalomovT zaqari-

ad [smobil]sa | saxliT saxeliT mefeTagan cnobil

sa | sparsTagan mklviT unspars gansajdomilsa |
mioxeT RmerTan Tqvens locvaT mindobilsa |
mxilvelT gTxovT SemibraloT da Sendoba |
mibrZanoT R(mr)Tis gulisaTvis, | 1831. 9. 12.

Transl.: ...was a Mokalak named Zakar Abesolomov [coming]
from a family whose name is well-known to kings [and] sentenced
to death by Persians (?). May you remember me [for] I hope you
will pray for me before God.

Published in: Ìóðàäÿí Ï., idem, ñ. 113-114.
Note: The remnants of the tombstone, which comprised two fragments, were

removed from the cemetery to the Historical and Ethnographical Museum of
Tbilisi, where Dr. P. Muradian saw them in the early 1980s. The photograph
reached us thanks to S. Darchinian.

4. The funerary memorial dedicated to Avetik Movsissian

Piroyants, which was erected in 1858 close to the northern wall of

the church with an extensive epitaph, is still preserved in situ. This

person “...bequeathed a magnificent edifice to Nersissian School,

for the benefit of which its income is used.”83 Avetik Piroyants,

__________

83 §Ø»Õáõ Ð³Û³ëï³ÝÇ¦, 1875, ¹ 13, 5 ³åñÇÉÇ, ¿ç 3:

A tombstone, 1743 

A tombstone, 1855 
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who was a furrier by trade, was elected as a deputy for Sourb

Nshan in 1820: “When he assumed this post, the church had

absolutely no financial means, but he increased its budget by serv-

ing it faithfully. He had the women’s gallery re-built from its very

foundations, and held office for 28 years, serving the church with

great fairness and loyalty and leaving a capital of five thousand

roubles for it, in addition to a sum of about 600 roubles for its

embellishment in perpetuation of his memory.”84

A. Piroyan died on 8 May 1858 and was buried “...close to the

ramparts of Sourb Nshan Church.”85 On 10 September of the

same year, his wife Ketevan consigned her soul to God and was

interred beside her husband. Their memory is kept living by an

epitaph of 28 lines engraved on a marble slab set in the northern

wall of the church, close to the memorial to A. Piroyan:

²é ¹áõ ÁÝ¹ ù¨ ï³å³Ý ·»ñáõÃ»³Ý
¼Ù³ñÙÇÝ ³ÝßáõÝã ³éÝ å³ïáõ³Ï³Ý
²Õ³Û ²õ¿ïÇùÇ Áëï Ñûñ ØáíëÇë»³Ý
ÆëÏ Áëï ïáÑÙ³Ýáõ³Ý Ïáã»³É öÇñáÛ»³Ý
ºÏ³ó ë³ Û»ñÏñÇ ·áñÍáíù μ³ñáõÃ»³Ý
Æ Ù³ÝÏáõó ïÇáó óûñ Çõñ Í»ñáõÃ»³Ý
àñμáó Ñ³Ûñ ¿ñ ë³, Ý»Õ»Éáó å³ßïå³Ý,
²Õù³ï³ó û·Ý»É ¿ñ ëáñ³ ÙÇßï ç³Ý,
ø³Õ³ù³óÇ ¿ñª Û³é ¨ ïáõñë ³ñ¹³ñ,
Æõñáó, ûï³ñ³ó Û³õ¿ñÅ μ³ñ»ñ³ñ.
¼³Ùë »é»ëáõÝ ½ëáÛÝ ½³Ûë ï³×³ñ
¼³ñ¹³ñ»³É Ñ³ëáÛó Ç ÷³é³ó Ï³ï³ñ,
¾ñ ë³ ³ÝÅ³é³Ý·, μ³Ûó μ³½Ù³Å³é³Ý·.
Ø³ÝÏáõÝù ¹åñáóÇ »Ý ëáñ³ Å³é³Ý·.
¼³ñ¹ÇõÝë Ïñå³Ï³ó ¨ Çõñáó Ù»Í ï³Ý

Îï³Ï»³É Ýáó³ ÙßïÝç»Ý³Ï³Ý,
Ì³ÝûÃù, ³ÝÍ³ÝûÃù ÁÝÃ»ñóáÕ μ³ÝÇë,
àõë³ñáõù ¨ ¹áõù ·áñÍ»É ½μ³ñÇë.
Ø³ÕÃ»ó¿ù ½ï¿ñ ç»ñÙ»é³Ý¹ ëñïÇõ
î³É Ñá·õáÛ ëáñ³ ½³Ý»ñ»ÏÝ ½ïÇõ,
ì³Ë×³Ý»³É Û8 Ù³ÛÇëÇ 1858 ³ÙÇ, Ç Ñ³ë³ÏÇ
64 ³Ù³ó,
Ð³Ù»ëï ·áñÍáíù ³éÝ å³ïáõ³Ï³Ýª
²é ÝÙÇÝ ÝÝç¿ Çõñ ÏÇÝ ø»Ã¨³Ý.
¼³Ùë ù³é³ëáõÝ Ï³ó»³É ÙÇ³μ³Ýª

__________

84 §Ø»Õáõ Ð³Û³ëï³ÝÇ¦, 1859, ¹ 24, 13 ÛáõÝÇëÇ, ¿ç 192:

85 Ibid.
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Æ ëáÛÝ ÇëÏ ³ÙÇ Ã³ÕÇ Û³Ûë
ï³å³Ý,

ì³Ë×³Ý»³É Ç 10 ë»å.
1858 ³ÙÇ, Ç Ñ³ë³ÏÇ

55 ³Ù³ó:
Published in: Ìóðàäÿí Ï., idem, ñ.

72.

Transl.: Grave of captivity, take
the lifeless remains of my hus-
band, honourable Agha Avetik,
whose patronymic is Movsissian
and family name Piroyan. From
childhood to his old age, he
lived doing good: he was a
father for orphans, and a protec-
tor for the destitute, always
helping the poor heartily. He
was a citizen fair in commerce,
ever a benefactor for his own
people and aliens. He embellished this church and completed [its
renovation] gloriously within thirty years. He was childless, but
he had many heirs, his sons being the children of the school to
which he bequeathed the income of his booths and large house for
eternal use. May those who read these lines, both acquaintances
and strangers, learn to do good. May you pray God heartily to
shroud his soul in eternal light. He died at the age of 64 on 8 May
1858. By her pious husband’s side reposes Ketevan, who was
modest in her deeds. She lived with him in solidarity for forty
years and was buried in this grave this year: she died at the age
of 55 on 10 September 1858.

Note: P. Muradian erroneously read the family name of ‘Piroyan’ as ‘Pitoyan.’

5. In 1874 Shushan Ketkhudiants-Abesalomiants, Mayor

Soghomon Abesalomiants’ mother, found repose in the cemetery

of Sourb Nshan.86 Her tombstone bears a white marble slab with

a 10-line inscription which is in a semi-distorted state:

ÀÝ¹ ßÇñÙ³õë Ñ³Ý·ãÇ ...³ñáõ» μ³ñ»å³ß|ïáõÑÇ ³ÙáõëÇÝ
¼³ù³ñ³Û ²μ»ë³ÉûÙ»¥³¤ÝóÇ | Ñ³Ý·áõó»¥³¤É Þáõß³Ý,
¹áõëïñª ¸³õÇÃÇ | ø¿ÃËáõ¹¿Ýó, áñ ÏÝù»³ó ½Ï»³Ýë Çõñ ... |
³ÙÇ ..., áí Ñ³Ý¹ÇåûÕù ßÇñ|ÙÇÝ ³Õ³ã¿Ù ½Ó»½ ï³É ëÙ³ áÕáñ-
ÙÇ ... | ... ³ñ³ëó¿ ï¥¿¤ñ Ñá·õá ...ëá|ñÇÝ åë³Ï³ÏÇó ... »ÃëÕ ÁÝ¹
³ñ¹³ñë Çõñ | ... | ...:

Transl.: In this grave reposes ...pious spouse of Zakar Abesalo-
miants, the deceased Shushan, the daughter of David Ketkhudian,

__________

86 Shushan Ketkhudiants-Abesalomiants is also mentioned in the epitaph written

in memory of her husband Zakaria Abesalomiants in 1855 (see epitaph ¹ 3).
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who departed this life... at the age of... Pray, may those who see
this grave beg for her soul’s peaceful rest... ...Lord... 

Published for the first time.

6. In 1868 Soghomon Zakarian Abesalomiants (Abisogho-

miants), who held the mayoralty of  Tiflis for two terms (1860 to

1861, 1865 to 1866), was interred in the graveyard of Sourb

Nshan Church.87

7. In 1880 Lieutenant Co-

lonel Avrian Michaelian Yeni-

kolopiants was buried in the

cemetery.88

8. In 1892 Hakob Abesolo-

miants found eternal repose in

the four-pillar belfry-porch

built in front of the northern

entrance of the church. His

tombstone bears an epitaph in

Armenian and Russian:

Ú³Ïáíμ êáÕáÙûÝ»³Ý |
²μ»ëûÉáÙ»³Ýó, | ßêîâú Ñî-

ëîìîíîâè÷ú | Àáåññàëîìîâú

| 1823-1892 ã.

Transl. from Armenian: Hakob
Soghomonian Abesolomiants.

Published for the first time.

Note: The Russian epitaph mere-

ly contains the same name with the

birth and death years of the deceased.

9. In 1894 mineralogist Barsegh Hovhannissian Meghviniants,

the Vice-Consul of Belgium in Tiflis, was buried in the ceme-

tery.89 The memorial perpetuating his memory stands at the north-

ern extremity of the main graveyard of the church, close to its

ramparts (in recent years, it has been deliberately damaged).

Âàñèëèé Èâàíîâè÷ú | Ìåãâèíîâú | ðîä. 5 íîÿáðÿ 1843 ã.

| ñêîí÷. 31 äåêàáðÿ 1894 ã.

´³ñë»Õ ÚáíÑ³ÝÝÇë»³Ý | Ø»ÕáõÇÝ»³Ýó, | ÍÝ»³É Ç 5-Ý
ÝáÛ»Ùμ»ñÇ 1843 ³ÙÇ, | í³Ë×³Ý»³É Û31 ¹»Ïï»Ùμ»ñÇ 1894
³ÙÇ:

Transl. from Armenian: Barsegh Hovhannissian Meghviniants: born
on 5 November 1843, he died on 31 December 1894.

Published for the first time.

Note: The photographs show the memorial as standing (1989, by S. Karape-

tian) and as already subjected to premeditated destruction (2008, by S. Darchi-

nian).

The Russian epitaph has the same contents.

10. In 1915 Royal Councillor, Prince Grigor Bektabekiants

was buried close to the western facade of the church. His tomb-

stone, which disappeared between 2010 and 2011, had an epitaph

in Armenian, Russian and Georgian:

__________

88 ì²¸, ý. 5, ó. 1, ·. 6469, Ã. 62: His tombstone was not found in situ.

89 “Òèôëèññêèé ëèñòîê”, 1895, ¹ 1, 02.01.

__________

87 “Êàâêàç”, 1868, 21.07. For details concerning his biography, see §ÂÇýÉÇ-

ëÇ ù³Õ³ù³·ÉáõËÝ»ñÁ¦, ºñ¨³Ý, 2003, ¿ç 52-53. His tombstone is not found

among those which can be seen in the cemetery.
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²ëï Ñ³Ý·ãÇ Ù³ñÙÇÝ Ý³¹íûñÝÇ ëûí»¹ÝÇÏ | ÏÝ. ÇßË³Ý
¶ñÇ·áñÇ èáëïáÙ»³Ý | ´¿·Ã³μ¿·»³Ýó | Ý³ËÏÇÝ Ñá·³μ³ñ-
Óáõ ÂÇýÉÇëÇ Ñ³Ûáó | æÏñ³ß¿Ý »Ï»Õ»óáõ áõëáõÙÝ³ñ³ÝÇ | ÍÝ.
29 ÛáõÝÇëÇ 1838 Ã. í³Ë×. 5 ÷»ïñáõ³ñÇ 1915 Ã.:

Íàäâîðíûé ñîâåòíèêú | ïîïå÷èòåëü Äæèãðàøåíñêîé øêîëû

| êíÿçü Ãðèãîðèé Ðîñòîìîâè÷ú | Áåãòàáåãîâú | ðîä. 29 èþíÿ

1838 ã., ñêîí÷. 5 ôåâðàëÿ 1915 ã.

nadvorni sovetnikis | kniazi grigori rosto-

movi... | begtabegovi | popeCiteli w.... jigraSenis ...

| 1838-1915.
Transl. from Armenian: In this grave repose the remains of Court

Councillor, Prince Grigori Rostomian Begtabegiants, the former
trustee of the school of Tiflis’ Armenian church of Jkrashen. Born
on 29 June 1838, he died on 5 February 1915.

Published for the first time.

Note: The photograph was taken by S. Darchinian in 1988.

The Russian and Georgian epitaphs have almost the same contents. 

The southern sacristy of Sourb Nshan Church also retains an

ornate cross-stone which was probably removed there from this

cemetery. It is bare of any inscription, but its stylistic and artistic

features trace it back to the period between the 17th and 18th cen-

turies.

Church Vessels and Vestments. One of the earliest records

about the relics kept either in the church or with the clergymen

serving there dates back to 1837: “It has a pyx with the represen-

tation of St. Nicholas the Miracle-Worker which retains Andrew

the Apostle’s forehead. Besides, Archpriest of this sanctuary

Ohannes Zarapov preserves in his house a tiny piece of the cross

upon which Christ was crucified together with other relics hand-

ed down to him by inheritance. These sacred pieces, which have

healing power, are held in veneration by both the Armenians and

the Georgians. In times bygone, they were treated with the utmost

awe by the members of the royal family as well. The priest some-

times takes them to church for Christians to worship and kiss

them, and again takes them back home.”90

According to a document made up on 8 March 1838, Sourb

Nshan had a large collection of gold and silver utensils, 168 in

total number.91 We have selected only those of them which have

donation inscriptions.

“A gilded cross of silver with five artificial stones on one of its faces, and the

following words on the other”:

Æ ÃáõÇÝ Ñ³Ûáó èÔº ¥1646¤ ßÇÝ»ó³õ ëáõñμ Üß³Ýë
μ³ñ»Ëáë ÚáÑ³Ý í³ñ¹³å»ïÇÝ ¨ ÍÝáÕ³ó ÝáñÇÝ` Ø¿ÉùûÛÇÝ ¨
ØÇÝáõÝ¹ÇÝ:

Transl.: In the year 1095 (1646) of the Armenian calendar, Sourb
Nshan was built in protection of Archimandrite Ohan as well as
his parents Melko and Minund.

“The cross weighs thirty-one meskhals.”

“Two identical crosses... one of which bears words of commemoration in

Armenian”:

Ú³ÝáõÝ ´³Õ¹³ë³ñÇÝ, ´¿Å³ÝÇ ¹áõëïñ ¸¿¹¿μûÛÇÝ,
áñ¹õáÛ Î³Ï³ÉûÛÇÝ..., èÖÄ² ¥1662¤ ÃáõÇÝ:

Transl.: In memory of Baghdasar, Bezhan’s daughter Dedebo, his
son Kakalo... in the year 1111 (1662).

A cross-stone (17th to 18th centuries) inside the southern sacristy of Sourb Nshan

(Holy Sign) Church ¥photo by N. Akopov, 2011¤

__________

90 ØØ»»ÉÉÇÇùùëë»»ÃÃ--´́»»ÏÏ  ÈÈ.., idem, ¿ç 267: Ohanes Zarapov’s name is also found in the

following record: “...a small domed church dedicated to St. Gevorg, with a

wooden roof built in 1775 with the means of the family of Father Ohanes

Zarapov, Archpriest of Sourb Nshan, opposite the large gate of the castle of

Metekh...” (idem, ¿ç 268).

91 Ð²¸, ý. 56, ó. 6, ·. 39, Ã. 56-61:
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“...the other has the following inscription written in Armenian, but in the

Georgian script”:

Ú³ÝáõÝ ö¿ñÇË³ÝÇÝ, Ø³ñÇ³ÙÇÝ...:
Transl.: In memory of Perikhan, Mariam...

“Two similar crosses one of which is gilded and the other not (both of them

are broken). One of them has only the following written on it in Georgian [in the

original]: Father Grigor. The other is engraved with these words”:

Ú³ÝáõÝ ù³Ñ³Ý³ÛÇó ´³Õ¹³ë³ñÇÝ ¨ å³ñáÝ ¸³õÃÇÝ ¨
Ùûñ Êáñ»ß³ÝÇÝ, »ÕμûñÝ Ú³ñáõÃÇõÝÇÝ:

Transl.: In memory of Priest Baghdasar and Mr. David and his
mother Khoreshan [and] his brother Harutiun. 

“A gilded cross with a dove-shaped part of silver...”:

ÚÇß³ï³Ï Û³ÝáõÝ ´³Õ¹»ÝÇ ¹áõëïñ Âáõñ³½ÇÝ..., èÖÎ¸
¥1715¤:

Transl.: In memory of Baghden’s daughter Turaz... 1164 (1715).

“An icon of St. Minas, its lower part adorned with silver... It perpetuates the

memory of Rostom Hokiniants’s son Hokin... in the year 1164 (1715).”

“Two similar gilded crosses, one of them having a scene of the Crucifixion on

its face and representing the Holy Virgin on its four wings... the other face of the

cross shows the Holy Mother of God holding crowned Jesus in Her arms...”

ÚÇß³ï³ÏÝ Û³ÝáõÝ ÙÕ¹ëÇ Ø¿ëñáíμÇÝ ¨ ÏáÕ³ÏóáÛÝ ¨
áñ¹õáÛÝ Ê³ã³ïáõñÇÝ..., èÖÎ¼ ¥1717¤ ÃáõÇÝ:

Transl.: In memory of Mahtesy Mesrob and his spouse and his
son Khachatur... in the year 1166 (1717).

“...the other is engraved with the following”:

Ú³ÝáõÝ Þ³ïÇÝ»³Ýó ´³Õ¹³ë³ñÇÝ, Çõñ ÏáÕ³ÏóáÛÝ... 
Transl.: In memory of Baghdasar Shatiniants [and] his spouse...
“...it dates from the same year. Both the crosses weigh two hundred and forty-

five meskhals together.”

“A silver chalice with a gilded paten... written on its lower part”:

ÚÇß³ï³Ï Û³ÝáõÝ Ø³Ý·áÛÇÝ ¨ Çõñ ÏáÕ³ÏóáÛÝ ¨ Çõñ áñ¹Ç
¶Çáñ·ÇÝ Ñá·õáÛ Ñ³Ù³Û... èÖÎ¾ ¥1718¤:

Transl.: In memory of Mango and his spouse and for his son
Giorgi’s soul... 1167 (1718).

“A gilded icon with a scene of the Annunciation, showing the Holy Virgin and

angels with flowers in front of Her. Above Her are seen God the Father and the

Holy Spirit shaped like a dove. Each of the two edges of the icon is embellished

with representations of the Apostles who have double-winged angels above them.

Written on the lower part of the icon”:

ÚÇß³ï³Ï Û³ÝáõÝ úùûÛ»Ýó èáëïáÙÇ áñ¹Ç ÐáùÇÝÇÝ,
²ëÉ³Ù³½ÇÝ, ´¿Å³ÝÇÝ... èÖÐº ¥1726¤:

Transl.: In memory of Rostom Okoyants’s son Hokin, Aslamaz,
Bezhan... 1175 (1726).

“A gilded chalice of silver without a paten... partly adorned with ornaments.

Written at the edge of its base”:

Ú³ÝáõÝ ¾½»Ýó ´¿Å³ÝÇÝ ¨ Çõñ áñ¹Ç êï»÷³ÝÇÝ,
Ø³ñïÇñáëÇÝ ¨ Çõñ ÍÝáÕ³óÝ... èÖÐÂ ¥1730¤ ÃáõÇÝ:

Transl.: In memory of Ezents Bezhan and his son Stepan,
Martiros and his parents... in the year 1179 (1730).

“A dresser adorned with silver and covered with gilding in certain parts...”:

Ú³ÝáõÝ ²õ»ïÇùÇ áñ¹Ç ²Ëï³ñË³ÝÇÝ ¨ ÍÝáÕ³óÝ ¨
»Õμ³ñóÝ... èÖÔ´ ¥1743¤ ÃáõÇÝ:

Transl.: In memory of Avetik’s son Akhtarkhan and his parents
and brothers... in the year 1192 (1743).

“A small gilded icon of St. Mary embellished with six tiny pieces of emerald”:

Ú³ÝáõÝ Ø¿Ññ³μÇ Ñ³Ûñ ºÝûùÇÝ... èØÆ´ ¥1773¤ ÃáõÇÝ:
Transl.: In memory of Mehrab’s father Yenok... in the year 1222

(1773).

“A dresser with silver-adorned representations of John the Baptist and

Stepanos Nakhavka [St. Stephen the Protomartyr], whose relics are kept inside it...

The lower parts of its doors show [Sts.] Peter and Paul. The words commemorate

Ketevan for the enjoyment of Father Mkrtich, 1232 (1783).”

“A Book of Hours printed in Holy Echmiatzin in 1234 (1785).”

“Two identical icons adorned with silver. Donated in memory of Yesayi

Mamloyants’s son Rostom and his spouse Lalitars... 1236 (1787).”

“A large gilded chalice with its paten made in Russia. The latter bears a cross.”

ØÇñ½³Û ¶áõñ·¿ÝÇÝ ¨ ØÇë³Û¿ÉÇÝ ... èØÈÀ ¥1789¤ ÃáõÇÝ:
Transl.: To Mirza Gurgen and Misael... in the year 1238 (1789).

“An icon adorned with silver”:

ÚÇß³ï³ÏÝ Ø³Ý·áÛ»³Ýó ÚáÑ³Ý ¨ Çõñ ÏáÕ³ÏÇó
Â³Ù³ñÇÝ, èØÊº ¥1796¤:

Transl.: In memory of Ohan Mangoyants and his spouse Tamar,
1245 (1796).

“A gilded icon of the Holy Virgin... The inscription is as follows”:

Ú³ÝáõÝ ¸³õÇÃ Ø³Ý³ÝáíÇÝ, èØÌº ¥1806¤ ³ÙÇ:
Transl.: In memory of David Mananov, 1255 (1806).

“A stole of red atlas sewn with golden threads and decorated with a tree whose

branches show the twelve Apostles, with the Holy Virgin, hugging Jesus, at its

top... the chest has representations of two saints below which is written”:

ÚÇß³ï³Ï Û³ÝáõÝ Ñ³Ý·áõó»³É ¶ñ·áñÇ¹, ö³ñë³¹³ÝÇ
áñ¹Ç ¼áõñ³μÇÝ ¨ Çõñ ÏáÕ³ÏÇó` ø»Ã¿í³ÝÇÝ... 1809 ³ÙÇ, Ç 26
ë»åï»Ùμ»ñÇ:

Transl.: In memory of the late Grigor, Parsadan’s son Zurab and
his spouse Ketevan... 26 September 1809.
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“A silver cross of large dimensions... one of its faces representing the

Crucifixion, with the Evangelists on its four wings... The other face of the cross

shows the Holy Virgin with a crown on Her head and six-winged angels on its four

wings... written in Armenian and Georgian”:

ÚÇß³ï³Ï Û³ÝáõÝ ¸³õÇÃ Þ³ÝßÇÝáíÇÝ ¨ Çõñ ÍÝáÕ³óÝ
1810 ÃáõÇÝ:

Transl.: In memory of David Shanshinov and his parents in the
year 1810.

“The base is joined with the cross through three apples two of which are of

the same size. On one of the apples is written: in memory of the late spouse
Barbare and Kalol, who is alive, [as well as their] daughter Sopi...”

“A small dresser... which is adorned with silver in its lower section... and con-

tains part of St. Gevorg’s wafer. ...Written as follows: This wafer of St. Gevorg per-
petuates the memory of Minas Simanovich, ...Margaret, Anan, Anna and their sons
in the year 1259 (1810). ...The doors of the dresser are embellished with silver on

both their faces. Inwardly, one of them bears a representation of St. Gevorg, and

the other an angel. Outwardly, they show the images of Sts. Peter and Paul. The

dresser weighs fifty-five meskhals.”

“A stole... sewn with golden threads and decorated with crosses and flow-

ers...”

1823, ÛÇß³ï³Ï ¿ ²É³¹³ÃáíÇ ¹áõëïñ àíë³ÝÇÝ:
Transl.: 1823, in memory of Aladatov’s daughter Ovsan.

“A newly-made beautiful Russian chasuble... with the following written on its

silver clasps”:

ÚÇß³ï³Ï Û³ÝáõÝ ä»ïñáë ê³ñ·ë»³ÝÇÝ ¨ ÍÝáÕ³ó
ÝáñÇÝ... Û³ÙÇ 1825, Ç ë»åï»Ùμ»ñ 5:

Transl.: In memory of Petros Sargissian and his parents... 5
September 1825.

“A pair of fans shaped like six-winged seraphs... donated by the two deceased

brothers Kharaziants, Harutiun and Avetis, 1828.”

“A newly-made and richly-adorned Lectionary printed in St. Petersburg in

1786 A.D. ...donated by noble Ghaytmaz Ghaytmaziants on 15 August 1831.”

“A gilded gonfalon of silver with its cross donated by Galust Bezhoyants in

the year 1831.”

“A chasuble... decorated with flowers and having silver fasteners...”

ÚÇß³ï³Ï Û³ÝáõÝ ÚáÑ³ÝÝ¿ë êáõÉÃ³ÝáíÇÝ ¨ ÍÝáÕ³óÝ
ÝáñÇÝ, 1834:

Transl.: In memory of Hovhannes Sultanov and his parents,
1834.

“A dresser with a glassed face containing St. Andrew the Apostle’s skull. The

donation inscription is written on its doors”:

Ú³ÝáõÝ Ê³ã³ïáõñÇ áñ¹Ç ä³åÇÝ ¨ Çõñ ÏáÕ³ÏÇó
Â³Ù³ñÇÝ... èØÔ´ ¥1843¤:

Transl.: In memory of Khachatur’s son Pap and his spouse
Tamar... 1292 (1843).

“A silver chalice with its paten... [the original] written in Georgian along the

edge of its base”:

Ú³ÝáõÝ êáÉ³Õ»³Ýó ´³Û»Ý¹áõñÇ áñ¹Ç ºë³ÛÇÝ...:
Transl.: In memory of Bayendur Solaghiants’s son Yesayi...

“Three almost identical crosses which are only slightly different from each

other. One of them was donated in memory of Gabriel Poladiants, his parents  and

his spouse Mariam; the other in memory of Dodo Ghorghaniants and his son

Gabriel, and the third one in memory of Mahtesy Khatin Avetikiants. They weigh

eighty-eight meskhals.”

“A silver vial of chrism shaped like a dome and having a cross... [the original

of] the inscription is written in Georgian in memory of Shamir Beglariants.”

“A gilded manuscript Gospel embellished with silver bearing a scene of the

Crucifixion on one of its faces with a representation of the Holy Saviour on the

other. Its four corners show the Evangelists and double-winged angels.”

Ú³ÝáõÝ úùûÛ»³Ýó ´¿ÅáÛÇÝ ¨ »Õμ³Ûñ Ü³ëÕÇïÇÝ ¨ Çõñ
ÁÝÏ»ñ ·áñóÇ Ü³ëÕÇïÇÝ:

Transl.: In memory of Bezho Okoyants and his brother Nasghit
and his friend Nasghit from Gori.

“The silver part of the Gospel weighs one hundred and eighty-two meskhals.”

“A pair of icons representing the Holy Mother of God and enriched with sil-

ver... the words perpetuate the memory of goldsmith Machlo’s son Yesayi, his

spouse Baghin [as well as] their sons Tetebo [and] Nikoghos.”

“An icon of the Holy Virgin adorned with silver and having a gilded halo. The

following is written on its lower part of silver in the Armenian language, but in

Georgian letters: in memory of the late Hakob...”

“An icon representing Holy Pontiff Nicholas...”:

ÚÇß³ï³Ï ¸³õÇÃ Ø³Ý³Ý»³ÝóÇ:
Transl.: In memory of David Mananiants.

“A large icon of St. Mary with Jesus in Her arms... in commemoration of

Atom’s daughter Tamar...”

“Another icon of the Holy Virgin adorned with silver...”:

ÚÇß³ï³Ï ¶á·ÇÝ»³Ýó ÂÇÝ³ÃÇÝÇÝ:
Transl.: In memory of Tinatin Goginiants.

“An icon... donated by Galust Bezhoyants and his widow Babarer. It weighs

two hundred twenty-six and a half meskhals.”

“A pair of silver candelabra...”:

ÚÇß³ï³Ï ºë³ÛÇ Æ½ÙÇñ»³ÝóÇ:
Transl.: In memory of Yesayi Izmiriants.
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“A pair of finely-made chandeliers of silver donated by Avetis

Babanassiants.”

“Another pair of silver candelabra with their bases having serpentine edges.

Donated by Harutiun Kharaziants.”

“A priestly helmet decorated with silver... written on the lower part of its

base...”:

ÚÇß³ï³Ï ¿ Ë³ãë ²Õ³Ùç³Ý»³Ýó Ñ³Ý·áõó»³É ¶û·ÇÝÇ
ÏÇÝ Ø³ÃáÛÇÝ:

Transl.: This cross perpetuates the memory of the late Gogin
Aghamjaniants’s wife Mato.

“A vakas [a priestly vestment]... embellished with seven images of silver rep-

resenting the Holy Saviour, the Holy Mother of God, John the Baptist and other

Evangelists... [the original] written in Georgian: in memory of Sam
Shanshiniants.”

“A Russian chasuble... donated by Avtandil Yokoyants in memory of his

brother’s soul. Its silver clasps were given by another person, for they bear these

words: in memory of Khanghalam’s son David...”

“A yellow chasuble... donated by Mirza Abraham Enakolopiants.”

“A pair of cuffs, one of them sewn with golden threads [and donated] in mem-

ory of Tamar, the daughter of Aghamjan’s son, i.e. the late Giorgi, and her spouse,

the deceased Hovhannes...”

“A pair of silver candelabra donated in memory of Mehrap’s father Yenovk.”

“Three Gospels one of which is a manuscript; the other was printed in

Constantinople in 1796, and the third one represents a Lectionary printed in St.

Petersburg in 1786.” 

“Two books called Aysmavurk: one of them was printed in Constantinople in

1651 [and donated to the church] in memory of Bezhan Okoyants and his dear

ones. The other is dedicated to Ghutiasavar Amiraghiants...”
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It is already several years since the Armenian diocese of

Georgia raised the question of the restitution of several Armenian

churches, situated there and appropriated by the Georgian author-

ities since the 1920s to 1930s, to their only legal owner, the

Armenian Apostolic Church. 

So far the Armenian side has presented such a demand for only

6 of the numerous Armenian churches located in Georgia, and

Sourb Nshan Sourb Nikoghayosi is one of them.

This demand has not been satisfied yet, and this is due not to

the stance of the state authorities on this issue, but rather to the

approach of the Georgian Orthodox Church to it. The point is that

they express doubts about the belonging of the church to the

Armenians and its foundation by them; moreover, they have put

forward the hypothesis that the Armenians built it over the foun-

dations of a Georgian Orthodox one, thus appropriating the old

Georgian monument.

Indeed, the demand advanced by the Georgian diocese of the

Armenian Apostolic Church is quite clear and unambiguous: it

refers to the church named Sourb Nshan Sourb Nikoghayosi,

which was erected between 1703 and 1720 and functioned as an

Armenian Apostolic church until 1930 (at present it is still pre-

served standing). The Georgian Orthodox Church, however,

keeps rejecting it, unfortunately, without substantiating its refusal

with trustworthy historical sources; instead, the Georgian side has

been busy making groundless statements and repeating the afore-

mentioned viewpoint regarding the belonging of the church.

Confusing as it is, a number of Georgian historians and philol-

ogists have manifested the same attitude to the issue without hav-

ing ever gone deeper into the historical documents regarding it or

without even having the slightest knowledge about them.

This comes to prove that both the representatives of the

Georgian Orthodox Church and the researchers defending its

interests in their statements are guided not by objective scientific

logic, but merely by political considerations.

Under these circumstances, the detailed analysis of the histor-

ical past of Sourb Nshan Church for both scientific circles and the

public at large is a task of urgent necessity.

We hope that this research, which presents an overall and

unbiassed history of the church of Sourb Nshan Sourb

Nikoghayosi, analysing both the well-known and newly-found

sources regarding it, will shed new light on this long-disputed

question and finally give an exhaustive answer to it.

Epilogue








